
           
                                                 

NOTICE: ANY SUBJECT APPEARING ON THIS AGENDA, REGARDLESS OF HOW THE MATTER IS STATED, MAY BE ACTED UPON BY
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF TEXAS CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION.
 

TEXAS CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING

 AGENDA 

JUNE 4, 2025- 3:00 P.M.
CITY HALL COUNCIL ROOM

1801 9th Ave. N.
Texas City, TX  77590

PLEASE NOTE: Public comments are limited to posted agenda items only and are generally limited to 3
minutes in length. If you would like to request to speak, please do so in advance of the meeting by filling
out a Request To Address Commission form. All in attendance are required to remove hats and/or
sunglasses (dark glasses) during meetings and to also silence all cell phones and electronic devices.
 

           
1. DECLARATION OF QUORUM   
 

2. ROLL CALL   
 

3. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION   
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS   
 

5. Consider Approval of the April 16, 2025 Meeting Minutes.
 
6. NEW BUSINESS   
 

a. Discussion and possible action on Resolution No. 2025-14, approve proposal for professional
services for the development of a Preliminary Engineering Report (PER) for a Shoal Point
entry road.

 
b. Discussion and possible action on Resolution No. 2025-15, approve a budget adjustment to

support the agreement for Preliminary Engineering Report (PER) for Shoal Point entry road.
 

c. Discussion and possible action on Resolution No. 2025-12, approve Business Improvement
Grant (BIG Grant) for Species Gym- Texas City for an amount not to exceed $15,000.

 
d. Discussion on the proposed Texas City Economic Development Corporation budget for



d. Discussion on the proposed Texas City Economic Development Corporation budget for
FY2026.

 
7. UPDATES AND REPORTS   
 

a. Small Business Development Center Update
Texas City-La Marque Chamber of Commerce Update
Texas City ISD Update
Dickinson ISD Update

  

 

b. City of Texas City Staff Update   
 

8. REQUEST AGENDA ITEMS FOR FUTURE MEETINGS   
 

9. ADJOURNMENT   
 

I, THE UNDERSIGNED AUTHORITY, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS NOTICE OF MEETING WAS
POSTED ON THE BULLETIN BOARDS AT CITY HALL, 1801 9TH AVENUE NORTH, TEXAS CITY,
TEXAS, AT A PLACE CONVENIENT AND READILY ACCESSIBLE TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC AND
ON THE CITY'S WEBSITE ON MAY 30, 2025, PRIOR TO 3:00 P.M., AND REMAINED SO POSTED
CONTINUOUSLY FOR AT LEAST 72 HOURS PRECEDING THE SCHEDULED TIME OF SAID
MEETING.

____________________________________
Texas City Economic Development Corporation



   
TCEDC Agenda 5.        
Meeting Date: 06/04/2025  
Submitted By: Renee Edgar, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

ACTION REQUEST (Brief Summary)
Consider Approval of the [insert date] Meeting Minutes.

BACKGROUND
ANALYSIS
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED

Attachments
April 16, 2025 Minutes 



TEXAS CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING

MINUTES

APRIL 16, 2025 - 4:00 P.M.

CITY HALL CONFERENCE ROOM
 

The Texas City Economic Development Corporation Board of Directors met April 16, 2025, at 4:00, in
the City Hall Conference Room, 1801 9th Avenue North, in Texas City, Texas. A quorum having been
met, the meeting was called to order at 4:00 p.m. by Mark Ciavaglia with the following in attendance:
 

               
(1) DECLARATION OF QUORUM
 
(2) ROLL CALL
  Present: Mark Ciavaglia, Chairperson   

Randy Dietel, Vice-Chairperson   
Dedrick D. Johnson, Mayor/ Director   
Brandon Brooks, Director   
Phil Roberts, Director   

Absent: Cynthia Rushing, Ex-Officio Member / Treasurer

Staff Present: Jon Branson, General Manager
Kristin Edwards, Economic Development Director
Rhomari Leigh, Board Secretary
Curt Kelly, Engineering & Planning Administrator
George Fuller, Director of Municipal Services
Ariel Callis, Economic Project Manager
Jade Jones, Community Events and Tourism Manager
Renee Edgar, Records Manager
Tamesha Hampton, Finance Administrative Assistant

Attendees: Amy Reid, Small Business Development Center (SBDC)

(3) CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION

There were none.
 
(4) PUBLIC COMMENTS

There were none.
 
(5) Consider Approval of the February 5, 2025 TCEDC Meeting Minutes.   
 
  Motion by Vice-Chairperson Randy Dietel, Seconded by Director Phil Roberts 



  Vote: 4 - 0 CARRIED

 
(6) NEW BUSINESS
 

(a) Discussion and possible action on Resolution No. 2025-07, approve and adopt park rules
and food truck vendor application for the 6th Street Community Plaza.

Kristin Edwards, Economic Development Director, recommended approving the 6th Street
Community Plaza rules and food truck vendor application packet for the 6th Street
Community Plaza.

  

 
  Motion by Director Phil Roberts, Seconded by Vice-Chairperson Randy Dietel 

  Vote: 4 - 0 CARRIED

 
(b) Discussion and possible action on Resolution No. 2025-08, authorizing a TCLM Chamber

Membership Grant for Front Porch Coffee in an amount not to exceed $500.

Dedrick D. Johnson, Mayor/ Director, attended the meeting at 4:04 p.m.

Kristin Edwards, Economic Development Director, recommended approving
the TCLM Chamber Membership Grant to Front Porch Coffee in an amount not to exceed
$500.

  

 
  Motion by Mayor/ Director Dedrick D. Johnson, Seconded by Vice-Chairperson Randy Dietel 

  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
(c) Discussion and possible action on Resolution No. 2025-09, approving a sponsorship not to

exceed $5,000 supporting the Dr. Warren Nichols “Gone Fishing” retirement scholarship
gala.

Kristin Edwards, Economic Development Director, recommended approving sponsorship
supporting the Dr. Warren Nichols “Gone Fishing” retirement scholarship gala.

  

 
  Motion by Vice-Chairperson Randy Dietel, Seconded by Mayor/ Director Dedrick D. Johnson 

  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
(d) Discussion and possible action on Resolution No. 2025-10, approving a 6th Street Signage

Incentive Agreement for Doodle Me Up Grooming Salon, located at 413 6th Street.

Kristin Edwards, Economic Development Director, recommended approving a signage
incentive for Doodle Me Up Grooming Salon.

  

 
  Motion by Director Phil Roberts, Seconded by Director Brandon Brooks 

  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
(e) Discussion and possible action on Resolution No. 2025-11, approving a 6th Street Signage   



(e) Discussion and possible action on Resolution No. 2025-11, approving a 6th Street Signage
Incentive Agreement for Lercy’s Diner, located at 513 6th Street.

Kristin Edwards, Economic Development Director, recommended approving signage
assistance in the amount of $1,260 in EDC funds to Lercy’s Diner.

  

 
  Motion by Mayor/ Director Dedrick D. Johnson, Seconded by Vice-Chairperson Randy Dietel 

  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
(f) Discussion and possible action on Resolution No. 2025-12, authorizing a Business

Improvement Grant (BIG Grant) for Species Gym – Texas City for an amount not to exceed
$15,000.

Jon Branson, Executive Director of Management Services, stated to the board that
information about the previously awarded amount and photos of the damage would be
gathered; to show the board the need for the request.

  

 
  Motion by Director Phil Roberts, Seconded by Vice-Chairperson Randy Dietel to table this

item. 

  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
(g) Discussion and possible action on Resolution No. 2025-13, renewal of a services agreement

between the City of Texas City Economic Development Corporation and the Bay Area
Houston Economic Partnership (BAHEP).

Kristin Edwards, Economic Development Director, recommends renewing the services
agreement with the Bay Area Houston Economic Partnership (BAHEP). Kristin also thanked
Brian Freedman from BAHEP for coming to the meeting.

  

 
  Motion by Mayor/ Director Dedrick D. Johnson, Seconded by Vice-Chairperson Randy Dietel 

  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
(7) UPDATES AND REPORTS
 

(a) Small Business Development Center Update

Amy Reid, from SBDC, gave a brief update on the Small Business Success Series. 
 

(b) City of Texas City Staff Update

Kristin Edwards, Economic Development Director, gave an update on the department and
welcomed Brandon Brooks to the board. Kristin also stated that TCISD representatives were
not in attendance and that Alexis Kopp would be moving to a different school district, but she
knows that TCISD is in good hands.

Jon Branson, Executive Director of Management Services, gave an update on Shoal Point.
 
(8) REQUEST AGENDA ITEMS FOR FUTURE MEETINGS



(8) REQUEST AGENDA ITEMS FOR FUTURE MEETINGS

There were none.
 
(9) ADJOURNMENT
 
Having no further business, Mark Ciazaglia adjourned the meeting at 4:32 p.m. 

 
______________________________________
Board Secretary
Texas City Economic Development Corporation

Date Approved: ____________________



   
TCEDC Agenda 6. a.        
Meeting Date: 06/04/2025  
Approve proposal for professional services for the development of a Preliminary Engineering
Report (PER) for a Shoal Point entry road.
Submitted For: Kristin Edwards, Economic Development 
Submitted By: Kristin Edwards, Economic Development
Department: Economic Development

ACTION REQUEST (Brief Summary)
Approve proposal for professional services for the development of a Preliminary Engineering
Report (PER) for a Shoal Point entry road.
 

BACKGROUND
The City of Texas City and the Texas City Economic Development Corporations have
historically received interest from potential industrial partners to develop projects on Shoal
Point. However, the lack of an access road connecting Shoal Point to FM 197 has
consistently been a mitigating factor in their site searches and final investment decisions.

In the last two years, three (3) industrial projects have approached the City as well as the
Texas General Land Office about using property on Shoal Point for potential projects.
Through ongoing discussion, the need for a Shoal Point entry road remains one of the largest
concerns.  Simply put, developing a roadway connecting FM 197 to Shoal Point is a crucial
step toward utilizing hundreds of acres of industrial-zoned property in Texas City.  To begin
the process of potentially constructing a road, staff issued a Request for Proposals (RFP
2025-468) for a Preliminary Engineering Report (PER) which would accomplish two major
goals: 

Conduct a route study to determine the most viable entry path from FM 197 onto Shoal
Point; and

1.

Complete 30% of the design for the entry road with a utility corridor included.2.

RFP 2025-468 was issued on December 2, 2024, and by the submittal deadline in January
2025, two firms submitted responses, including Colliers and Schaumburg & Polk.

A small team was assembled, including Mayor Dedrick Johnson, City Engineer Kim Golden,
Public Works Director Jack Haralson, Executive Director of Management Services Jon
Branson, and Economic Development Director Kristin Edwards.  The team reviewed both
responses and conducted individual interviews with each firm, and Colliers was identified as
the firm with the most applicable experience to the project. The team then developed
questions related to Colliers’ response and provided them for feedback.

The proposal attached to this item details the services and deliverables to be provided during
two phases: A route study to identify three (3) possible routes, and a PER which will result in
30% of the design for the project.

Today, we recommend the TCEDC Board approve the full proposal, with a total cost of



$467,409. This will allow staff to move forward into the first phase of the project, which will
include extensive stakeholder insight and provide the information needed to complete phase 2.

ANALYSIS
Approve proposal for professional services for the development of a Preliminary Engineering
Report (PER) for a Shoal Point entry road.
 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED

Attachments
Colliers - Final proposal 
Colliers - Memo with answers 
Resolution 

























































13501 Katy Freeway Suite 1350 
Houston, Texas 77079 
Main: 877 627 3772 
 
 

Memorandum 

To: Kristin Edwards 

From: Guillermo Benavides, PE, ENV SP 

Date: April 24, 2025 

Subject: Revised Proposal for Professional Services - Preliminary Engineering Report for 
Shoal Point Entry Road 

Project No.: 24013577P 

 

Proposal Restructure: 

Pursuant to our discussion during the proposal review meetings on April 10th and April 16th, our 
office has revised the original proposal, dated March 5, 2025. The aim of the revisions are to more 
clearly define the scope of work to be performed under Phase I (as follows: 

1. Proposal scope restructured to clearly define Phase I and Phase II as well as associated costs 
of each phase. 

2. Level of effort exhibit revised to clearly identify Phase I costs and Phase II costs. 
3. Survey Services scope of work revised to exclude LiDAR data collection and replaced with on-

site topographic survey. 
4. Environmental Services scope of work revised to include additional natural resources items 

recommended to be completed during Phase II. 
5. Preliminary Schedule updated to reflect anticipated project timeline. 

 

Internal Review Group Questions: 

Additionally, we have reviewed the questions from the City’s internal review group and offer the 
following responses (original questions in bold and responses in italics): 

1. Survey data – Is the amount of data proposed in the plan enough to support the design, or 
will additional surveys need to take place later?  
CED finds the proposed topographic survey and data collection sufficient to support the design along 
a preferred route and therefore anticipates no additional field survey. Some office work, such as 
refining base files or extracting supplemental details, will be completed during the final design phase. 
Any City-requested changes like rerouting or modifications to the design scope after route selection 
will result in a revised survey fee from CED. 

 



Project No. 24013577P 
April 24, 2025 
Page 2 | 5 

2. Traffic counts – We (City of Texas City) would recommend 13-hour traffic counts – 6am to 
7pm – instead of 12-hour counts. This adjustment is to account for shift changes at the 
refineries which impact the peak hour counts and the fact that many employees of the 
refineries are commuters from elsewhere in the Houston area. This is the standard we 
have used for the other recent traffic design studies we have had done in Texas City.  
 
We appreciate the City’s input regarding the 13-hour traffic counts from 6:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. We 
have updated our scope to reflect this adjustment, and the change can be accommodated within the 
originally proposed cost. No fee modification is required. 
 

3. Geotechnical information – In the proposal packet, you list 5 shallow borings and 2 deep, 
and only three days of drilling time. We would like to see pricing for additional borings 
and would like clarification as to whether 3 days of drilling represents three consecutive 
calendar days or 72 hours. If the latter, we would recommend accounting for more time in 
case of bad weather, etc.  
The proposed geotechnical exploration is intended to obtain basic subsurface information to support 
the preliminary evaluation of pavement and structural requirements. The updated plan includes eight 
test borings totaling approximately 260 linear feet of drilling —six shallow borings for roadway 
pavement evaluation and two deeper borings to support preliminary bridge abutment 
recommendations. Drilling is scheduled over three consecutive calendar days, which CED estimates to 
be sufficient based on typical production rates. 
 
Work will be scheduled with consideration for weather conditions. If delays occur due to inclement 
weather, the drilling team will pause operations and return to complete the work without additional 
cost to the City. 
 
Additionally, more detailed geotechnical investigation will be required during final design, once the 
preferred route and structure types are confirmed. The projected fee for final design already includes 
the estimated cost for this additional work. 
 

4. Cost-benefit analysis – Would you mind providing more detail about the methodology to 
be used?  
CED applies a structured and industry-recognized methodology to perform cost-benefit analyses for 
roadway infrastructure projects. Our approach follows guidance established by the Federal Highway 
Administration (FHWA) and the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials 
(AASHTO), which provide national standards for evaluating transportation investments. The process 
includes the following steps: 
 
a. Identify and Quantify Costs: 
Direct costs such as construction (materials, labor, and equipment), land acquisition, utility 
relocations, drainage, lighting, landscaping, and safety features are itemized using current unit pricing 



Project No. 24013577P 
April 24, 2025 
Page 3 | 5 

and cost databases. Indirect costs, including environmental mitigation, traffic disruptions during 
construction, and long-term maintenance, are also considered for each alignment. 
 
b. Identify and Quantify Benefits: 
Project benefits are identified for each alignment, including travel time savings, reduced vehicle 
operating costs, improved safety through crash reduction, increased travel reliability, environmental 
benefits, and potential for economic development. These benefits are evaluated using accepted 
transportation performance measures. 
 
c. Monetize Costs and Benefits: 
Quantifiable elements are translated into monetary values using industry-accepted valuation 
methods. For tangible items, current market rates and engineering cost databases are applied. For 
non-tangible benefits, such as safety and emissions reductions, we use valuation techniques endorsed 
by FHWA and AASHTO and consider stakeholder input when appropriate. 
 
d. Calculate Net Benefit and Benefit-Cost Ratio: 
All costs and benefits are summarized to calculate the net present value and benefit-cost ratio for 
each alternative. Discount rates recommended by federal and state agencies are used to ensure 
consistency in evaluating long-term project performance. 
 
e. Conduct Sensitivity Analysis: 
Sensitivity analyses test how changes in key assumptions, such as traffic volumes or construction 
costs, influence the benefit-cost outcomes. This helps evaluate the stability of the analysis under 
different future conditions. 
 
f. Evaluate Non-Quantifiable Factors: 
Some project impacts, like effects on adjacent property values, community access, or social equity, 
cannot be easily quantified. These factors are evaluated qualitatively and compared across 
alternatives to provide a comprehensive view. 
 
g. Recommendation: 
We conclude with a summary of the analysis and a recommendation based on both quantitative and 
qualitative findings. This recommendation is structured to support transparent decision-making and 
agency review. 
 

5. Locating existing utilities – the group asked if you will be using desktop or physical 
location or radar? Also, will we have a comprehensive list in Phase 2, or will there be need 
for additional locates?  
CED’s utility investigation will include a combination of Quality Level D and Quality Level C SUE, as 
defined by ASCE standards. Quality Level D involves reviewing existing utility records such as as-built 
drawings, GIS data, and information provided by utility companies. This method offers a general 
understanding of utility locations and is commonly used during the early planning phase. 
 



Project No. 24013577P 
April 24, 2025 
Page 4 | 5 

As part of our utility coordination efforts, we will also conduct a Quality Level C investigation, which 
includes surveying visible utility features such as manholes, valve covers, and pedestals, and 
comparing them with available records. While this helps identify potential conflicts, it does not provide 
precise depth or horizontal location. Based on our experience with similar projects, we believe this 
level of investigation, supported by direct coordination with utility owners, will provide the information 
needed to support preliminary design. 
 
If these methods do not provide sufficient clarity, more detailed investigations may be considered 
during final design or construction to accurately locate underground utilities. 
 

6. After Phase 2, do you have any broad estimates of how much additional time/dollars 
would need to be dedicated to get construction drawings prepared?  
CED has prepared a preliminary estimate of the Level of Effort (LOE) for Final Design (Phase 3), 
projected to range between $742,647 and $903,285. This estimate reflects the anticipated effort 
required to advance the project from Phase 2 through the development of Plans, Specifications, and 
Estimates (PS&E) for the construction phase. The projected range is provided for reference and may be 
refined as the design progresses and the final alignment and scope are confirmed. 
 

7. Does the fee include the subconsultant fees or will the subconsultant fees be an 
additional cost? 
CED is a multidisciplinary civil engineering firm with the in-house expertise to handle every stage of 
project development. To improve efficiency and reduce costs, especially by avoiding unnecessary 
mobilization, we may partner with specialized subconsultants as needed. On this project, we are 
working with two subconsultants—one for traffic data collection and another for the required 
geotechnical drilling. Their local capabilities allow us to provide these services effectively and 
affordably. The proposed cost includes all subconsultant fees, meaning no extra charges for the City. 

 

Additional Environmental Services: 

During our meeting on April 16, 2025, we discussed a potential update to the Environmental 
Services scope. Following a review of the project requirements, CED’s Environmental Group 
recommends expanding the effort within Phase II of the Preliminary Engineering Report (PER) to 
enhance the natural resources assessment. This added effort will support a more complete and 
informed evaluation during the preliminary design phase and will help better identify permitting 
requirements and ensure regulatory compliance. 

 
 
I hope the revised proposal and responses have addressed your questions and concerns 
thoroughly. We appreciate the opportunity to support the City on this important project and look 
forward to continuing our collaboration. If you have any further questions or need additional 
information, please feel free to contact me at any time. 

 



Project No. 24013577P 
April 24, 2025 
Page 5 | 5 

Included: Projected Phase 3 – Final Design Phase - LOE 

 

cc: Christopher Otto, PE, CFM, Colliers Engineering & Design (via email) 

 

\\corp.collierseng.com\files\Projects\2024\24013577P\Proposal\250424 Proposal Resubmission Cover Memo.docx 



Project Name
24013577P - Texas City - Shoal Point Entry - Final Design

Exhibit A - FINAL DESIGN - ESTIMATED FEES

HOURS HIGH-END LOW-END
Final Engineering Design 4425 903,285.00$       742,647.00$       

1 Project Administration 202 49,005.00$              49,005.00$              
2 Survey 50 9,500.00$                9,500.00$                
3 Environmental Permitting 115 21,000.00$              21,000.00$              
4 Geotechnical Investigation 665 126,350.00$            95,855.00$              
4.1 Mobilization / Demobilization 58 11,020.00$              7,714.00$                
4.2 Standard Borings (60 @ avg. 20 ft) 104 19,760.00$              13,832.00$              
4.3 Deep Borings (12 @ avg. 80 ft) 167 31,730.00$              22,211.00$              
4.4 Shelby Tube Samples 36 6,840.00$                4,788.00$                
4.5 CPT Soundings (select locations) 72 13,680.00$              9,576.00$                
4.6 Groundwater Monitoring / Piezometers 29 5,510.00$                3,857.00$                
4.7 Lab Testing (Classification, Atterberg, Consolidation, etc.) 69 13,110.00$              9,177.00$                
4.8 Engineering Analysis & Report 87 16,530.00$              16,530.00$              
4.9 Wetland Access Premium (matting, permits, etc.) 43 8,170.00$                8,170.00$                
5 Private Access Control & Street Light Design 0 20,000.00$              20,000.00$              
6 Structural Design 1332 253,890.00$            123,747.00$            
6.1 Final Design for MSE Walls 180 33,440.00$              23,408.00$              
6.2 Final Design for Culverts 121 23,960.00$              23,960.00$              
6.3 Final Design for Sheet Piling Bridge Design 180 34,300.00$              54,880.00$              
6.4 Final Design for Span Bridge Design 610 116,200.00$            -$                          
6.5 Cost Estimate for Structural Design 68 12,410.00$              8,067.00$                
6.6 Final Plans and details 173 33,580.00$              13,432.00$              
7 Roadway Design 1683 343,275.00$            343,275.00$            
8 Project Manual 174 34,840.00$              34,840.00$              
9 QA/QC 133 31,275.00$              31,275.00$              
10 Bid Phase Services 71 14,150.00$              14,150.00$              

TOTALS HOURS 4425

TOTAL COST 903,285.00$       742,647.00$       

ESTIMATE COST

DATE: 4/24/2025



TEXAS CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-14

A RESOLUTION APPROVING PROPOSAL FOR PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF A PRELIMINARY
ENGINEERING REPORT (PER) FOR A SHOAL POINT ENTRY ROAD;
AND PROVIDING THAT THIS RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME
EFFECTIVE FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.

WHEREAS, at  a  meeting  of  the  Board  of  Directors  of  the  Texas  City  Economic
Development Corporation duly held on June 4, 2025, a general discussion was held  to discuss
approving professional services for  the development of a Preliminary Engineering Report for a
Shoal Point entry road; and

WHEREAS, a Preliminary Engineering Report  (PER) would accomplish  (1) conduct a
route  study  to  determine  the  most  viable  entry  path  from  FM  197  onto  Shoal  Point  and  (2)
complete 30% of the design for the entry road with a utility corridor included; and 

WHEREAS, staff recommends approval of the full proposal, with Colliers Engineering
& Design, Inc.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
THE TEXAS CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION THAT:

SECTION 1: The  Board  of  Directors  of  the  Texas  City  Economic  Development
Corporation  hereby  approves  an  estimated  payment  of  $467,409.00  to  be  paid  to  Colliers
Engineering & Design, Inc.

SECTION 2: The Chairperson or Vice Chairperson is hereby authorized to execute any
documents necessary for this contract.

SECTION 3: That this Resolution shall be finally passed and adopted on the date of its
introduction and shall become effective from and after its passage and adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 4th day of June 2025.

                                                                           
CHAIRPERSON/VICE CHAIRPERSON
Texas City Economic Development Corporation



ATTEST:

                                                                          
BOARD SECRETARY/ALTERNATE
Texas City Economic Development Corporation



   
TCEDC Agenda 6. b.        
Meeting Date: 06/04/2025  
Approve budget adjustment to support agreement for Preliminary Engineering Report (PER) for
Shoal Point entry road.
Submitted For: Kristin Edwards, Economic Development 
Submitted By: Kristin Edwards, Economic Development
Department: Economic Development

ACTION REQUEST (Brief Summary)
Approve budget adjustment to support professional services for Preliminary Engineering
Report (PER) for Shoal Point entry road.

BACKGROUND
The City of Texas City and the Texas City Economic Development Corporations have
historically received interest from potential industrial partners to develop projects on Shoal
Point. However, the lack of an access road connecting Shoal Point to FM 197 has
consistently been a mitigating factor in their site searches and final investment decisions.
In the last two years, three (3) industrial projects have approached the City as well as the
Texas General Land Office about using property on Shoal Point for potential projects.
Through ongoing discussion, the need for a Shoal Point entry road remains one of the largest
concerns.

Following the issuance of RFP 2025-462 in December 2024, staff received two (2) proposals
for professional services to conduct a Preliminary Engineering Report (PER) for a Shoal Point
entry road.   Of the two proposals received, a small team including Mayor Dedrick Johnson,
City Engineer Kim Golden, Public Works Director Jack Haralson, Executive Director of
Management Services Jon Branson, and Economic Development Director Kristin Edwards,
selected the proposal from Colliers for approval by the EDC.  The total cost of the proposal –
to include both a route study and a PER to yield 30% design – is $467,409.  Simply put,
developing a roadway connecting FM 197 to Shoal Point is a crucial step toward utilizing
hundreds of acres of industrial-zoned property in Texas City.

Funds are available in the Texas City's Economic Development Corporation's City’s
FY2024-25 annual budget within the demolitions and maintenance line items within Fund 801
to cover the cost of the project.  This request is for approval to move funds from both of those
accounts into the professional services line item for the project.    
 

ANALYSIS
Approve budget adjustment in Texas City Economic Development Corporation's line item
budget to cover the cost of the professional services agreement for a Preliminary Engineering
Report (PER) for Shoal Point entry road.

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED

Attachments



Colliers - Final proposal 
Latest quarterly report - EDC 
Resolution 

























































CATEGORRY OB-DESCR

Sum of 2025 

Original Budget 

Sum of 2025 

Revised Budget 

SALARIES & BENEFITS 51010-SALARIES 532,961.00$             532,961.00$             
51070-LIFE & DISABILITY 4,399.00$                  4,399.00$                  
51080-RETIREMENT 75,710.00$                75,710.00$                
51090-MEDICARE TAX 6,133.00$                  6,133.00$                  
51110-GROUP HEALTH INSURANCE 26,221.00$                26,221.00$                
51130-INCENTIVE PAY 3,300.00$                  3,300.00$                  

SALARIES & BENEFITS Total 648,724.00$          648,724.00$          

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 53060-EXPENSE - ADMINISTRATIVE 87,000.00$                87,000.00$                
53061-BUSINESS VISIT EXPENSES 10,000.00$                10,000.00$                
53110-DEMOLITION 600,000.00$             555,111.25$             
53111-BUSINESS INCENTIVE 415,000.00$             415,000.00$             
53200-UTILITIES 35,000.00$                35,000.00$                
53201-JANITORIAL FEES -$                               -$                               
53340-MAINTENANCE - EQUIP. & TIRES 3,000.00$                  3,000.00$                  
53540-MAINTENANCE - BUILDING 400,000.00$             400,000.00$             
53560-MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS 275,000.00$             275,000.00$             
53567-CITYWIDE LITTER CONTROL 300,000.00$             300,000.00$             
53570-ADVERTISING/MARKETING 253,000.00$             253,000.00$             
53680-PROFESSIONAL FEES 220,000.00$             220,000.00$             
53710-RENT EXPENSE 18,000.00$                18,000.00$                
53800-DUES & MEMBERSHIPS 74,500.00$                74,500.00$                
53860-WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION 700.00$                      700.00$                      

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES Total 2,691,200.00$       2,646,311.25$       

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 52200-SOFTWARE -$                               -$                               
52240-GASOLINE & OIL 3,000.00$                  3,000.00$                  
52660-OFFICE SUPPLIES 15,000.00$                15,000.00$                

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES Total 18,000.00$             18,000.00$             

OTHER CHARGES 54180-CONTRIBUTIONS/DONATIONS 101,000.00$             101,000.00$             
54300-TRAINING & PERSONNEL 40,000.00$                40,000.00$                

OTHER CHARGES Total 141,000.00$          141,000.00$          

CAPITAL 55010-LAND & BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS 6,836,033.00$         6,836,033.00$         
55720-PROCUREMENT OF PROPERTY 300,000.00$             300,000.00$             

CAPITAL Total 7,136,033.00$       7,136,033.00$       

Grand Total 10,634,957.00$     10,590,068.25$     



Sum of 2025 

Actual 

Sum of 

2025Encumbrance

s/Requisitions

Sum of 2025 

Available 

Sum of 

REMAIN 

AVAIL 

BUDGET %

141,139.93$             -$                               391,821.07$             74%
329.67$                      -$                               4,069.33$                  93%

26,255.94$                -$                               49,454.06$                65%
2,027.92$                  -$                               4,105.08$                  67%

13,718.03$                -$                               12,502.97$                48%
1,107.64$                  -$                               2,192.36$                  66%

184,579.13$          -$                         464,144.87$          72%

2,999.63$                  2,698.89$                  81,301.48$                93%
-$                               -$                               10,000.00$                100%

42,366.00$                1,082.00$                  511,663.25$             92%
39,379.91$                6,639.28$                  368,980.81$             89%

5,506.92$                  2,466.47$                  27,026.61$                77%
5,413.15$                  7,578.41$                  (12,991.56)$              #DIV/0!

-$                               -$                               3,000.00$                  100%
20,256.79$                2,224.92$                  377,518.29$             94%
45,271.20$                90,234.18$                139,494.62$             51%

-$                               100,000.00$             200,000.00$             67%
88,235.25$                2,124.79$                  162,639.96$             64%
80,482.14$                (56,268.32)$              195,786.18$             89%

1,500.00$                  -$                               16,500.00$                92%
8,444.50$                  15,675.00$                50,380.50$                68%

-$                               -$                               700.00$                      100%
339,855.49$          174,455.62$          2,132,000.14$       81%

4,813.33$                  -$                               (4,813.33)$                 #DIV/0!
-$                               -$                               3,000.00$                  100%

139.98$                      326.18$                      14,533.84$                97%
4,953.31$               326.18$                  12,720.51$             71%

660.00$                      -$                               100,340.00$             99%
2,200.00$                  700.00$                      37,100.00$                93%
2,860.00$               700.00$                  137,440.00$          97%

1,806,139.06$         (1,806,139.06)$       6,836,033.00$         100%
43,099.02$                -$                               256,900.98$             86%

1,849,238.08$       (1,806,139.06)$      7,092,933.98$       99%

2,381,486.01$       (1,630,657.26)$      9,839,239.50$       93%



TEXAS CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-15

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A BUDGET ADJUSTMENT TO
SUPPORT THE AGREEMENT FOR PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING
REPORT (PER) FOR SHOAL POINT ENTRY ROAD; AND PROVIDING
THAT THIS RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM AND
AFTER ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.

WHEREAS, at  a  meeting  of  the  Board  of  Directors  of  the  Texas  City  Economic
Development Corporation duly held on June 4, 2025, a general discussion was held to amend the
2024-2025  fiscal  year  budget  to  appropriate  $467,409.00  for  the  development  of  a  roadway
connecting FM 197 to Shoal Point; and

WHEREAS,  a  total  of  $889,181.54  is  budgeted  in  the  Texas  City  Economic
Development  Corporation's  Budget  between  801-505-53110 &  53540  for  the  Demolition  and
Maintenance-Building to cover the cost of this project; and 

WHEREAS, staff recommends a budget adjustment in the amount of $467,709.00 to the
professional  services  budget  from  the  Texas  City  Economic  Development  Corporation's
Demolition  and  Maintenance-Building  accounts  to  cover  the  cost  of  the  project  and  any
necessary change orders that might occur.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
THE TEXAS CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION THAT:

SECTION 1: That the facts and matters set forth in the preamble of this Resolution are
hereby found to be true and correct.

SECTION 2: That the budget for TCEDC Fiscal Year 2024-2025 of the City of Texas
City, Texas, is hereby adjusted.

SECTION 3: That this Resolution shall be finally passed and adopted on the date of its
introduction and shall become effective from and after its passage and adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 4th day of June 2025.

                                                                           
CHAIRPERSON/VICE CHAIRPERSON
Texas City Economic Development Corporation



ATTEST:

                                                                          
BOARD SECRETARY/ALTERNATE
Texas City Economic Development Corporation



   
TCEDC Agenda 6. c.        
Meeting Date: 06/04/2025  
Approve Business Improvement Grant (BIG Grant) in an amount not to exceed $15,000.
Submitted For: Kristin Edwards, Economic Development 
Submitted By: Kristin Edwards, Economic Development
Department: Economic Development

ACTION REQUEST (Brief Summary)
Approve Business Improvement Grant (BIG Grant) in an amount not to exceed $15,000.
 

BACKGROUND
In October 2023, the Texas City Economic Development Corporation established the
Business Improvement Grant (BIG Grant) to assist local businesses with a range of
improvements.

Staff has received a completed application from Species Gym – Texas City, located at 702 9th
Avenue N. The applicant is requesting assistance to replace reception area windows and tint
as the windows have multiple cracks.   Per the attached estimate, the total cost of these
repairs is estimated to be $9,850.75.

Additional insight:
TCEDC provided a grant to Species Gym when they opened their facility, with a total amount
of $19,856.74. This amount covered allocations for exterior paint ($2,362.90), signage
($9,850) and build-out ($7,643.84).   Species Gym has been hugely successful, with a total
member count of 650. Their consistent traffic contributed to the decision by local restaurant
owner Rigo Hernandez (Rigo’s Café) to extend his hours of operation in order to offer dinner
to gym members.  Funds are available in the City of Texas City’s FY2024-25 annual budget
from the Texas City Economic Development Corporation, Fund 801. 
 

ANALYSIS
Approve Business Improvement Grant (BIG Grant) in an amount not to exceed $15,000.
 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED

Attachments
Photos of broken windows - Species 
Species BIG Grant application 
Grant application - owner approval 
Glass repair quote 
Resolution 















 

Texas City Economic Development Corporation - Business Incentive Grant Program 

The TCEDC Business Incentive Grant Program aims to provide existing businesses within the City 
of Texas City with up to $15,000 in grant assistance. Eligible businesses must provide proof of 
operation of at least one (1) year, as well as demonstrate the need for assistance and meet 
eligibility requirements listed below. 

 

Business Name: ________________________________________________________________ 
 

Business Address: _______________________________________________________________ 
 

Business Contact: _______________________________________________________________ 
 

Number of full-time or part-time employees: _________________________________________ 
 

Annual operating budget: ________________________________________________________ 
 

Eligibility requirements: 

Is your property located within the City limits of Texas City?   [   ] Yes   [   ] No 

Is your property in a non-residential zone?   [   ] Yes   [   ] No 

Have all owed property taxes been paid for this property?   [   ] Yes   [   ] No 

Is the property subject to any liens held by the City?   [   ] Yes   [   ] No 

Can you provide sufficient proof of ownership of the property?   [   ] Yes   [   ] No 

Is the property in violation of any provisions of the Texas City Code of Ordinances?    

[   ] Yes   [   ] No 

Have you received a grant for this property within the last 12 months?   [   ] Yes   [   ] No 

Date of submittal: _________________________________ 

Species Gym Texas City

702 9th Ave N, Texas City, TX 77590

Erin Hughes (210) 485-9528

0

$363,000

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
03-10-2025



Program Tiers: Applicants shall identify the desired incentive level based on the proposed 
project/improvement type for their property. Tier 1 projects will be eligible to receive up to 
$5,000 in assistance, and Tier 2 projects will be eligible to receive up to $15,000 in assistance. 

The following is not an exhaustive list, but examples of Tier 1 and Tier 2 Improvements. 

Tier 1 Improvement examples Tier 2 Improvement examples 
Interior Lighting Landscaping (Shrubs/trees, Irrigation) 
Pedestrian (Exterior) Lighting Fencing 
Accent (Exterior) Lighting Parking/Driveway reconstruction/resurfacing 
Paving/Pavers Demolition 
Seating Areas Code Compliance (City/IBC/Energy) 
Awning/shade structures Fire Suppression Systems 
Trash Receptacles Exterior/Façade Materials 

 

Please provide a brief description of your business, services provided, etc.: 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Please describe the project/effort or expansion to be supported by this grant: 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Please provide a summary of the costs/expenses associated with this event: 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Amount approved per TCEDC: _____________________________________________________ 

*The TCEDC reserves the right to limit grant assistance depending on need and available funds. 
The TCEDC may choose to issue full grants or matching grants. Application for grant assistance 
does not guarantee that funds will be issued. 

**Recipient businesses cannot be affiliated with any political party. 

24-hr bodybuilding/fitness gym

Replacement of reception area windows and tint. The windows have multiple cracks

$9,850.75 Admiral Glass Company



MSA Properties, LP 
1 Purdue Drive 

Richboro, PA 18954 
 

March 4, 2025 
 

Grant Application Approval Letter 
 

RE:  Species Gym Texas City 
702 9th Avenue N 
Texas City, Texas 77590  

 
To whom it may concern, 
 

As the property owner of 702 9th Avenue N Texas City, Texas 77590, MSA Properties, 
LP approves of Species Gym Texas City’s grant application with the City of Texas City to 
replace the reception area windows. 
 
 
 
Thank you, 
 
 
 
Alexa Fisher 
Partner 
MSA Properties, LP 
 





TEXAS CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-12

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT GRANT
(BIG GRANT) TO SPECIES GYM-TEXAS CITY; AND PROVIDING THAT
THIS RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM AND AFTER ITS
PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.

WHEREAS, at  a  meeting  of  the  Board  of  Directors  of  the  Texas  City  Economic
Development  Corporation  duly  held  on  June  4,  2025,  a  general  discussion  was  held
concerning the application of a Business Improvement Grant (BIG Grant)  to Species Gym –
Texas City for an amount not to exceed $15,000.00; and

WHEREAS,  staff  received a  completed application  for  the BIG Grant  from Species
Gym  –  Texas  City,  located  at  702  9th  Ave.  N.,  Texas  City,  TX  77590.  The  applicant  is
requesting assistance with the cost of window replacement and tint; and

WHEREAS, staff is proposing an allocation of funds not to exceed $15,000.00. Funds
from the Texas City Economic Development Corporation, Fund 801, are available in the City
of Texas City’s FY2024-25 annual budget.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
OF THE TEXAS CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION THAT:

SECTION 1: The Texas City Economic Development Corporation hereby approves a
Business  Improvement Grant  (BIG Grant)  to Species Gym – Texas City,  located at 702 9th
Ave. N., Texas City, TX 77590, for a maximum allocation not to exceed $15,000.00.

SECTION 2: The  Chairman  of  Texas  City  Economic  Development  Corporation  or
designee is hereby authorized to execute the documents necessary for said grant on behalf of
the Texas City Economic Development Corporation.

SECTION 3: This  Resolution  shall  be  in  full  force  and  effect  from  and  after  its
passage and adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 4th day of June 2025.

                                                                                                                                                     
CHAIRMAN/PRESIDENT

Texas City Economic Development Corporation



ATTEST:

                                                                          
BOARD SECRETARY
Texas City Economic Development Corporation



   
TCEDC Agenda 6. d.        
Meeting Date: 06/04/2025  
Discussion on the proposed Texas City Economic Development Corporation budget for FY2026.
Submitted For: Kristin Edwards, Economic Development 
Submitted By: Kristin Edwards, Economic Development
Department: Economic Development

ACTION REQUEST (Brief Summary)
Discussion on the proposed Texas City Economic Development Corporation budget for
FY2026.
 

BACKGROUND
In 2022, the TCEDC partnered with Garner Economics, LLC to develop the “Pathways to
Prosperity” Economic Development Action Plan for Texas City. The plan identified key
strategies for the City – Asset Development, Execute Effectively, Entrepreneurial
Development, and Communicate the Brand – and identified several specific actions
associated with each strategy.   The vast majority of these actions were integrated into the
budget for Fiscal Years 2023-24 and 2024-25, with accomplishments including the
establishment of the Phoenix Business Accelerator, the construction of the Texas City
Community Plaza, funding a Workforce Liaison with the Texas City Independent School
District (TCISD), approved Business Improvement Grants and Chamber Dues Grants,
additional marketing for the community on local, regional and state levels, and much more.

As well, staff dedicated significant time and resources to securing a long-term due-diligence
lease on Shoal Point, which will ideally lead to the establishment of a $1 Billion project led by
Galveston Industries, LLC. This project is in addition to the Galveston LNG Bunker Port
project with an expected capital expenditure of at least $250 million.   During FY2026, work in
these areas will continue and expand, with the overall budget decreasing from approximately
$10 million in FY2024-25 (a figure which included funds for the 6th Street Community Plaza
construction, to be completed June/July 2025) down to $4,251,571. This figure includes
maintenance and operation (M&O) for the 6 th Street Community Plaza. It also includes funds
to support City-wide wayfinding signage and funds to support a professional retail recruitment
effort (both included in the Asset Development section of “Pathways to Prosperity”).

Efforts at the Phoenix Business Accelerator will continue with existing and new clients. Staff
contracted for the development of a multi-session educational program to be offered
exclusively to clients, and public Small Business Success Series sessions will continue.

With the completion of the 6th Street Community Plaza, regular events on weekdays and
monthly concerts will also take place. Finally, in continued partnership with the TCISD
Workforce Liaison, the EDC will continue to spearhead a partnership with the College of the
Mainland to develop a career pipeline publication.

The proposed budget includes an Assistant Director for FY2026, whose focus will be
recruiting new retail developments as well as manufacturing to Texas City. This individual
would also assist the Director with day-to-day operations, and would execute the
above-mentioned retail recruitment effort.
 

ANALYSIS



Receive a summary of the Texas City Economic Development Corporation budget for FY2026.
 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED

Attachments
EDC Budget - draft for presentation 



EDC Individual Line Items - 801-050 FY25 Totals 
FY26 

Proposed 

Community 
Matters Matter of 

Focus Pathways to Prosperity 
EDC 51010-SALARIES $532,961.00  TBD   
EDC 51070-LIFE & DISABILITY $4,399.00  TBD   
EDC 51080-RETIREMENT $75,710.00  TBD   
EDC 51090-MEDICARE TAX $6,133.00  TBD   
EDC 51110-GROUP HEALTH INSURANCE $26,221.00  TBD   
EDC 51130-INCENTIVE PAY $3,300.00  TBD   
EDC 52200-SOFTWARE  $                          -     
EDC 52240-GASOLINE & OIL $3,000.00  $3,000    
EDC 52660-OFFICE SUPPLIES $15,000.00  $15,000    
EDC 53060-EXPENSE - ADMINISTRATIVE $87,000.00  $159,901   Asset Development: Retail recruitment 
EDC 53061-BUSINESS VISIT EXPENSES $10,000.00  $10,000    
EDC 53110-DEMOLITION $600,000.00  $450,000    

EDC 53111-BUSINESS INCENTIVE $415,000.00  $415,000  2: Economic Dev. 
Entrepreneurial Development: Phoenix 
program 

EDC 53200-UTILITIES $35,000.00  $240,000   6th Street Community Plaza - operation 

EDC 53201-JANITORIAL FEES 
 $                          
-   $30,000    

EDC 53340-MAINTENANCE - EQUIP. & TIRES $3,000.00  $3,000    
EDC 53540-MAINTENANCE - BUILDING $400,000.00  $706,500   6th Street Community Plaza - maintenance 
EDC 53560-MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS $275,000.00  $275,000  5: Beautification  
EDC 53567-CITYWIDE LITTER CONTROL $300,000.00  $300,000  5: Beautification  
EDC 53570-ADVERTISING/MARKETING $253,000.00  $311,000   Communicate the Brand: Advertising 
EDC 53680-PROFESSIONAL FEES $220,000.00  $653,000   Communicate the Brand: Tourism website 
EDC 53710-RENT EXPENSE $18,000.00  $0    
EDC 53800-DUES & MEMBERSHIPS $74,500.00  $77,670  2: Economic Dev.  
EDC 53860-WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION $700.00  $2,000    



EDC 54180-CONTRIBUTIONS/DONATIONS $101,000.00  $252,500  

1: Public Safety; 5: 
Beautification; 7: 

Youth 
Development 

Asset Development: Wayfinding and Execute 
Effectively: TCISD Workforce Liaison 

EDC 54300-TRAINING & PERSONNEL $40,000.00  $48,000   
Execute Effectively: Professional 
development 

EDC 
55010-LAND & BUILDING 
IMPROVEMENTS $6,836,033.00     

EDC 55720-PROCUREMENT OF PROPERTY $300,000.00  $300,000  2: Economic Dev.  
 TOTALS $9,986,233.00  $4,251,571    
      
Note: In the event of approved budget adjustment for FY25 for Shoal Point PER, this amount would decrease by $500,000. 

 


	Agenda
	AI 77707770
	       ATT_April 16, 2025 Minutes
	AI 7764 Approve proposal for professional services for the development of a Preliminary Engineering Report (PER) for a Shoal Point entry road.
	       ATT_Colliers - Final proposal
	       ATT_Colliers - Memo with answers
	       ATT_Resolution
	TEXAS CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
	RESOLUTION NO. 2025-14
		PASSED AND ADOPTED this 4th day of June 2025.

	AI 7765 Approve budget adjustment to support agreement for Preliminary Engineering Report (PER) for Shoal Point entry road.
	       ATT_Colliers - Final proposal
	       ATT_Latest quarterly report - EDC
	       ATT_Resolution
	TEXAS CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
	RESOLUTION NO. 2025-15
		PASSED AND ADOPTED this 4th day of June 2025.

	AI 7766 Approve Business Improvement Grant (BIG Grant) in an amount not to exceed $15,000.
	       ATT_Photos of broken windows - Species
	image0 (3)
	image1 (1)
	image2 (1)
	image3 (1)
	IMG_3088
	IMG_3089

	       ATT_Species BIG Grant application
	       ATT_Grant application - owner approval
	       ATT_Glass repair quote
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 7767 Discussion on the proposed Texas City Economic Development Corporation budget for FY2026.
	       ATT_EDC Budget - draft for presentation

